IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HAMPTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Perry M. Buckner III, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-001884

RECEIVED

Oct 22 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Gary L. Mole, as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Eddie Mole, Deceased Appellant,

v.

Kramer Apartments, LLC Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Clarissa Warren Joyner
1259 Amelia Street, Suite A
Orangeburg, SC 29115
(803) 534-8393 Telephone
(803) 534-7885 Facsimile
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:
H. Ford Thrift, Esquire
Morgan S. Templeton, Esquire
Attorneys for the Respondent
P.O. Box 1200
Charleston, SC 29402

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BY FINDING THAT NO EVIDENCE EXISTS TO SUPPORT THE EXISTENCE OF AN EXCEPTION TO THE NO DUTY RULE?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BY FINDING THAT RESPONDENT OWES NO DUTY TO APPELLANT BASED ON CONTRACT?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BY FINDING THAT DECEDENT'S ATTACK WAS UNFORSEEABLE?
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BY FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF'S AFFIDAVIT WAS INVALID AND SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED BY THE COURT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This wrongful death action was brought by Appellant, Gary L. Mole, as the personal representative of the deceased, Eddie Mole. This action arises out of the death of Eddie Mole (the “Decedent”), who was attacked on October 28, 2015, at the apartment complex known as the Holly Street East Apartments (the “Apartments”). It is undisputed that Respondent Kramer Apartments, LLC (“Defendant”) owns and operates the Apartments and that both the Decedent and his Assailant resided at the Apartments.¹ (R. p. 1) Plaintiff Gary Mole, as the personal representative of the Decedent’s estate, brought this action against Respondent by filing its Summons and Complaint on September 19, 2018 alleging that Respondent was negligent in failing to maintain the Decedent’s Apartment by remedying a defect in the Decedent’s apartment door that facilitated multiple break-ins, including the events which resulted in his death, by failing to exercise ordinary care to keep the premises safe, by failing maintain, inspect, secure, patrol and manage the premises, and by failing to evict the Assailant.(R. p.19-22).

After considering the Motion for Summary Judgement filed by Defendant without supporting affidavits, the Affidavit of Gray Mole along with Exhibits A through N attached thereto, and memorandum in support of and in opposition to the motion as well as oral arguments presented at the hearing, the Court granted Respondent’s motion for summary judgment. (R. p.1-7).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), *SCRCP* is that summary judgment is proper only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Pittman v. Grand Strand Entm’t, Inc., 363 S.C. 531,

¹ Although not a tenant, the Assailant was listed as a “designated occupant” on the lease agreement of another tenant.

611 S.E.2d 922 (2005). In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Rife v. Hitachi Constr. Mach. Co., Ltd., 363 S.C. 209, 609 S.E.2d 565 (Ct. App. 2005). If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury.

Moreover, summary judgment is appropriate only if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), *SCRCP*; Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co., 363 S.C. 334, 611 S.E.2d 485 (2005); In deciding a Rule 56 motion, the court must view all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. Schmidt v. Courtney, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct. App. 2003), cert. denied (Apr. 7, 2005) (stating that all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party).

Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. Gadson v. Hembree, 364 S.C. 316, 613 S.E.2d 533 (2005). Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. However, when plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ, summary judgment should be granted. Ellis v. Davidson, 358 S.C. 509, 595 S.E.2d 817 (Ct. App. 2004).

The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent's case, the opponent

cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings. Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 582 S.E.2d 432 (Ct. App. 2003). Rather, the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. Rife, 363 S.C. at 214, 609 S.E.2d at 568.

The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder. Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 580 S.E.2d 433 (2003). Because it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues. Helena Chem. Co. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co., 357 S.C. 631, 594 S.E.2d 455 (2004).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent, Kramer Apartments, LLC, was the owner and operator of the Holly Street East Apartments. (R. P. 47) Eddie Mole became a tenant of Holly Street East Apartments in 2010. (R. p. 79, 119) His lease was renewed automatically every year up until his death. (R. p. 119) Eddie Mole's lease agreement precluded Eddie Mole from making repairs at his apartment. Specifically, the lease had the typed section relating to repairs crossed out, and a hand-written notation next to it stating, "no repairs by tenant". (R. p.82, 119).

Eddie Mole's apartment was burglarized twice prior to the break-in on October 28, 2015 which lead to his death. (R. p. 55, 64) The first break-in occurred on April 18, 2014 and the second break in occurred on July 16, 2014. (R. p. 64, 71-75) The first break-in on April 18, 2014 was facilitated by the door supplied by Kramer Apartments which they precluded Decedent from repairing or altering. (R. p. 64, 82) The suspect easily entered Eddie Mole's apartment by breaking the glass out which was part of the front door. (R. p. 64, 71) After taking the glass out, he then was able to reach in, turn the knob and open the front door and enter. (R. p. 64, 71) The second robbery on July 16, 2014 was also facilitated by the front door installed by Kramer Apartments. (R. p. 64, 73).

On January 18, 2012, the owner of Kramer Apartments, Harry Kramer, filed a police report for burglary of one of the units at Kramer Apartments, and he reported that he was driving by the unit and saw glass on the ground which was from the front door glass which had been broken allowing easy entry into the unit. (R. p. 63, 69).

On October 28, 2015, Maurice Mitchell, who was allowed the reside at Kramer Apartments with his girlfriend, Nadine Robinson, despite his violent and felonious history, was able to fatally wound Eddie Mole after gaining access to his apartment by breaking out the same

window in the door which was adjacent to the lock and which had been used in the prior two robberies of Eddie Mole in 2014. (R. p. 1, 18, 76, 78, 120).

Kramer Apartments also allowed the violent, known criminal who murdered Eddie Mole to continue to reside with his girlfriend, Nadine Robinson, on the premises despite his repeated violation of the lease. (R. p. 92-93, 120, 135). Nadine Robinson's lease agreement specifically lists Maurice Mitchell as an occupant of her unit despite his extensive criminal record for Common Law Robbery in 2008, Strong Arm Robbery in 2008, Discharging a Firearm into a Vehicle While Occupied in 2014, and Failure to Stop for Blue Light in 2015.(R. p. 95-99). In 2014, Maurice Mitchell committed Domestic Violence at Kramer Apartments against his girlfriend, Nadine Robinson. (R. p. 95-96) The rental agreement specifically provides in paragraph twelve (12) that the "tenant, or any member of tenant's family, guest or other person under the tenant's control, shall conduct themselves in a manner that will not disturb other Tenant's and neighbors' peaceful enjoyment of the premises." Further, the lease provides that, "tenant, or any member of tenant's family, guest or other person under the tenant's control, **shall not** engage in or facilitate criminal or drug related activities," and "any such violation constitutes a substantial violation of the Lease and a material noncompliance with the Lease and is grounds for termination of tenancy and eviction from the premises. (R. p. 85) Despite notice of Maurice Mitchell's reputation in the community for doing drugs and being a violent criminal as well as his record which corroborates his dangerous and violent past, Kramer Apartments allowed him to remain on the property and never sought to evict him in compliance with their own lease. (R. p. 85) Maurice Mitchell also discharged a Firearm into a Vehicle While Occupied while residing at Kramer Apartments, and he failed to Stop for Blue Light while residing at Kramer Apartments. . (R. p. 92-93, 120, 135). In 2014, Maurice Mitchell also committed Domestic Violence at Kramer Apartments against his

girlfriend, Nadine Robinson, and the police responded and arrested him at Kramer Apartments. (R. p. 95) He was however allowed to remain on the premises and no action was taken against him to evict him from the property even though the lease agreement specifically precludes criminal or drug activity and states his conduct was a substantial violation of the lease. The lease even states that this provision is for the protection of other tenants and neighbor's peaceful enjoyment of the premises. (R. p. 85) Kramer's failure to enforce and comply with its own lease agreement lead to Maurice Mitchell's close proximity to Eddie Mole and his ability to break into his apartment through a defective door. (r. p. 58).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BY FINDING THAT NO EVIDENCE EXISTS TO SUPPORT THE EXISTENCE OF AN EXCEPTION TO THE NO DUTY RULE.

Respondent, Kramer Apartments, LLC, was the owner and operator of the Holly Street East Apartments. Eddie Mole became a tenant of Holly Street East Apartments in 2010. His lease was renewed automatically every year up until his death. (R. p. 79, 119) Eddie Mole's lease agreement precluded Eddie Mole from making repairs at his apartment. Specifically, the lease had the typed section relating to repairs crossed out, and a hand-written notation next to it stating, "no repairs by tenant". (R. p.82, 119).

The evidence presented in this case unquestionably creates issues of material fact. There is a genuine issue as to whether Kramer assumed a duty to repair the defective door by contractually precluding Mr. Mole from repairing the door pursuant to his lease. There is a question and triable issue of fact regarding whether the physical condition of the premises leased from Defendant by Eddie Mole contributed to the criminal activity which lead to his death. South Carolina courts do

impose on landlords a duty of care relating to the condition of the leased residential premises. Exceptions to a landlord's general immunity derived from the landlord's superior knowledge of and ability to maintain the premises' structural integrity. Landlords are liable for injuries caused by defects in the common premises. A second exception from general immunity arises because the landlord knew of a latent defect in the premises but did not disclose or remedy that defect. The windowed door which allowed easy access for Mr. Mitchell to break in Mr. Mole's apartment was specifically known by Mr. Kramer and Kramer apartments as he had made a police report regarding this condition in 2012 and he was aware of a prior burglary of Mr. Mole's apartment by this exact method. (R. p. 63, 69). Therefore, triable issues of fact exist because Kramer Apartments undertook repairs to the door which was a known source of easy entry, but it failed to properly secure and repair the door. There is a question of fact as to whether Kramer Apartments is therefore negligence in making the insufficient repairs to the door. There is also a question of fact about Kramer's violation of the lease by allowing Maurice Mitchell to remain on the property after repeated criminal acts which specifically violated the lease. . (R. p. 92-93, 95-96, 120, 135).

Maurice Mitchells' access to the Eddie Mole's unit was the direct result of Kramer Apartments actions in failing to maintain a common area, the door, which it precluded Eddie Mole from altering, repairing or upgrading. This in tandem with Kramer Apartment's allowing Maurice Mitchell to continue to live on the premises despite his extensive criminal activity both on the premises and away from the premises caused Eddie Mole to be a target for Maurice Mitchell's crimes. (R. p. 92-93, 120, 135). Kramer had exclusive control over these conditions which are lead directly to Maurice Mitchell's ability to enter the premises and murder Eddie Mole. Eddie Mole's door was an actionable defect, and the crime occurred at the very door Kramer Apartments refused to properly fix. Kramer Apartments retained not just superior ability to control this

defective windowed door, it maintained sole ability, as it prevented Eddie from repairing the door. This defective door foreseeably enhanced the risk of criminal activity. Kramer Apartments has actual knowledge of both the ease at which this defective door could be compromised as well as actual knowledge of criminal activity on the premises. . (R. p. 92-93, 95-96, 120, 135).

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BY FINDING THAT RESPONDENT OWES NO DUTY TO APPELLANT BASED ON CONTRACT.

On October 28, 2015, Maurice Mitchell, who was knowingly allowed to reside at Kramer Apartments with his girlfriend, Nadine Robinson, despite his violent and felonious history, was able to fatally wound Eddie Mole after gaining access to his apartment by breaking out the same window in the door adjacent to the lock which had been used in the prior two robberies of Eddie Mole in 2014. . (R. p. 92-93, 95-99, 120, 135).

Kramer Apartments also knowingly allowed the violent, known criminal who murdered Eddie Mole to continue to reside with his girlfriend, Nadine Robinson, on the premises despite his repeated violation of the lease. Nadine Robinson's lease agreement specifically lists Maurice Mitchell as an occupant of her unit despite his extensive criminal record for Common Law Robbery in 2008, Strong Arm Robbery in 2008, Discharging a Firearm into a Vehicle While Occupied in 2014, and Failure to Stop for Blue Light in 2015. In 2014, Maurice Mitchell committed Domestic Violence at Kramer Apartments against his girlfriend, Nadine Robinson. The rental agreement specifically provides in paragraph twelve (12) that the "tenant, or any member of tenant's family, guest or other person under the tenant's control, shall conduct themselves in a manner that will not disturb other Tenant's and neighbors' peaceful enjoyment of the premises." Further, the lease provides that, "tenant, or any member of tenant's family, guest or other person

under the tenant's control, **shall not** engage in or facilitate criminal or drug related activities," and "any such violation constitutes a substantial violation of the Lease and a material noncompliance with the Lease and is grounds for termination of tenancy and eviction from the premises. (R. p. 85) Despite notice of Maurice Mitchell's reputation in the community for doing drugs and being a violent criminal as well as his record which corroborates his dangerous and violent past, Kramer Apartments allowed him to remain on the property and never sought to evict him in compliance with their own lease. Maurice Mitchell discharged a Firearm into a Vehicle While Occupied while residing at Kramer Apartments, and he failed to Stop for Blue Light while residing at Kramer Apartments. (R. p. 92-93, 120, 135). In 2014, Maurice Mitchell also committed Domestic Violence at Kramer Apartments against his girlfriend, Nadine Robinson, and the police responded and arrested him at Kramer Apartments. (R. p. 95) He was however allowed to remain on the premises and no action was taken against him to evict him from the property even though the lease agreement specifically precludes criminal or drug activity and states his conduct was a substantial violation of the lease. (R. p. 120) The lease even states that this provision is for the protection of other tenants and neighbor's peaceful enjoyment of the premises. (R. p. 85) Kramer's failure to enforce and comply with its own lease agreement lead to Maurice Mitchell's close proximity to Eddie Mole and his ability to break into his apartment through a defective door.

Kramer also allowed rampant drug activity at the apartment. Cocaine and Marijuana were regularly sold out of Kramer Apartments by a police officer. (r. p. 100-112, 117)

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BY FINDING THAT DECEDENT'S ATTACK WAS UNFORSEEABLE.

Kramer Apartments knew about the lack of structural integrity of the windowed door they placed on Eddie Mole's apartment. (R. p. 69-70) This was a defect in the common premises maintained by Kramer, and Kramer specifically precluded Eddie Mole from fixing, improving or upgrading the door pursuant to its hand-written notation on his lease agreement. (R. p. 82) Therefore, only Kramer had the power to make necessary repairs to the door and they failed to do so. Kramer was on notice of the door's propensity to be easily compromised by the window pane being removed and the knob only turned to gain easy entry into the apartment because Harry Kramer observed this as early as 2012, and Eddie Mole's two prior burglaries were both facilitated by this defective door. (R. p. 69-70, 71-75) Instead of securing the door, Kramer cheaply and negligently replaced the lock on the broken door and placed plexiglass in the windowpane area after each robbery, and did not even replace the door or fix the broken windowpane. (R.126) Kramer had specific knowledge of the insufficiency of the windowed door which had been repaired by them in a substandard way. (R. p. 69-70) Kramer Apartments took no steps, which were all within their power since they specifically precluded Eddie Mole from repairing or replacing the door, to minimize the predictable risk to Eddie Mole after the first two break-ins and similar break-in of which they were on notice of since Mr. Kramer was the first person to observe and report a burglary facilitated by the defective door. (R. p. 69-70).

Under South Carolina law, when a landlord assumes to act, even though under no obligation to do so, he becomes subject to the duty to act with due care. *See Cramer v. Balcore Property Management, Inc.*, 312 S.C. 440, 441 S.E.2d 317 (1994). By specifically precluding Eddie Mole from making repairs, Kramer Apartments assumed the responsibility to adequately repair Mr. Mole's door, a common area, after the two robberies which preceded his death. Although not automatic by nature of the relationship, a landlord's duty may arise under particular

circumstances. *Cramer I*, 312 S.C. at 443 n.1, 441 S.E.2d at 319 n.1. This duty which Kramer Apartments assumed arose by contract when it placed in the lease agreement that no repairs could be made by the tenant and struck through the written provision which would have allowed the tenant to arrange for professional assistance in the event repairs. The law states that a duty may arise by contract. *Cramer I*, 312 S.C. at 442, 441 S.E.2d at 318. A lease is a contract, and Kramer contracted with Mr. Mole to make necessary repairs by specifically precluding him from making repairs or employing professionals to do so on his behalf. Here, Kramer's actions in failing to properly repair the door which presented a foreseeable risk known by Kramer since 2012, increased the risk of Eddie Mole's injuries. Although his assailant approached him in the parking lot area, he was able to force his way into the apartment door before he brutally attacked Mr. Mole.

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