THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HAMPTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Perry M. Buckner, III,  
Presiding Circuit Court Judge

---

Trial Court Case No. 2018-CP-25-0357  
Appellate Case No.: 2019-001884

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 13 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Gary L. Mole, as the Personal Representative  
of the Estate of Eddie Mole, Deceased. . . . . Appellant,

v.

Kramer Apartments, LLC . . . . . Respondent.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

WALL TEMPLETON & HALDRUP, P.A.  
Morgan S. Templeton  
Ford H. Thrift  
145 King Street, Suite 300  
Post Office Box 1200  
Charleston, South Carolina 29402  
Telephone: 843.329.9500

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

## Argument

### I. The Trial Court properly granted summary judgment because no evidence supports the existence of an exception to the no duty rule.

The Trial Court properly granted summary judgment because *Cramer v. Balcor Prop. Mgmt., Inc.*, 312 S.C. 440, 441 S.E.2d 317 (1994), remains the law in this state and Mole did not present any evidence that an exception to *Cramer* applies. The Supreme Court of South Carolina plainly stated in *Cramer*:

Under South Carolina law a landlord does not owe a duty to a tenant to provide security in and around a leased premises to protect the tenant from criminal activity of third parties. Neither common law nor the South Carolina Residential Landlord–Tenant Act, imposes a duty on a landlord to provide protection to tenants against criminal activity of third parties.

312 S.C. at 444, 441 S.E.2d at 319. While some exceptions to this rule have been recognized, *see, e.g., Cooke v. Allstate Mgmt. Corp.*, 741 F. Supp. 1205, 1209 (D.S.C. 1990) (enumerating four exceptions), South Carolina’s appellate courts have restated *Cramer* as the controlling law each time they have addressed the issue. *See Wright v. PRG Real Estate Mgmt., Inc.*, 426 S.C. 202, 220, 826 S.E.2d 285, 294 (2019) (“[*Cramer*] is still undoubtedly the law in South Carolina.”). Thus, as a baseline, any analysis of whether a landlord has a duty to protect his or her tenants from criminal activity must begin with the presumption that the landlord does not.

Mole concedes that South Carolina law does not generally impose an affirmative duty on residential landlords to protect tenants from the criminal activity of third parties. (Br. of Appellant, p. 14.) Mole argues instead that the Trial Court erred in ruling that none of the exceptions to *Cramer*’s “no-duty” rule apply to this case. (*Id.*, at pp. 10-12.) It is not clear from Mole’s brief, however, which specific exception he argues should apply. (*See generally Id.*) Mole only alleges that “triable issues of fact exist” because: (1) the physical condition of the premises contributed to the criminal activity which lead to the Decedent’s death, and (2) Kramer performed repairs on the

property. (*Id.*) Thus, it appears that Mole argues that a duty of care arises under the common areas, affirmative acts, and undertakings exceptions. (*See* R. \_\_\_\_, Tr. of Hr'g, pp. 15-17 (alleging Kramer's negligent repairs trigger the affirmative acts, undertakings, and common areas exception).) A plaintiff alleging that an exception applies must present specific evidence which would give rise to the alleged duty. *Goode v. St. Stephens United Methodist Church*, 329 S.C. 433, 494 S.E.2d 827 (Ct. App. 1997) (declining to find that any exception applies where the no evidence supported their application); *see also Rayfield v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 297 S.C. 9, 106, 374 S.E.2d 910, 916 (Ct. App. 1988) ("The burden is on the plaintiff to establish a duty of care owed to him"). The Trial Court correctly found that none of the recognized exceptions to *Cramer* apply to this case *because* Mole did not present any evidence supporting their application.

**a. The common areas exception does not apply to criminal activity or the facts of this case.**

Mole argues that "[t]here is a question and triable issue of fact regarding whether the physical condition of the premises leased from Defendant by Eddie Mole contributed to the criminal activity which lead to his death." (Br. of Appellant, p. 10.) This ostensibly invokes the common areas exception, which requires a landlord to maintain common areas of an apartment complex. *See Cooke*, 741 F. Supp. at 1211.<sup>1</sup> Kramer did not owe the Decedent a legal duty under

---

<sup>1</sup> Kramer notes that any argument that the common areas exception applies is not preserved for appeal. Generally, an issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court to be preserved. *Elam v. S. Carolina Dept of Trans.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004). When an issue is raised but not ruled upon, the party must file a Rule 59(e) motion to preserve it for appellate review. *Id.* In this case, Mole did not file any motion pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, regarding the Trial Court's Order. Thus, the only issues preserved for appeal are those which were in fact ruled upon in the Trial Court's Order. The Trial Court did not rule on whether or not the common areas exception applies. The only reference to this exception in the Trial Court's Order is the remark in a footnote that "the common areas exception 'has never been applied to anything except physical injuries resulting directly from the condition of the premises themselves.'" (R. \_\_\_\_, Order Granting Summ. J, p.3 n.2 (citing *Cooke*) (emphasis in *Cooke*)). An issue is not preserved merely because the court mentions it in passing. *Columbia (SC) Teachers Fed. Credit Union v. Newsome Chevrolet-Buick, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 162, 399 S.E.2d 444 (Ct. App. 1990); *Mize v. Blue Ridge Ry. Co.*, 219 S.C. 119, 64 S.E.2d 253 (1951). The trial court's observation is correct, but it does not constitute a ruling sufficient to preserve the issue for appeal.

the common areas exception because it does not apply to criminal activity. *See Id.* This duty of care applies only to injuries caused by defects in the premises. This Court has stated as recently as 2015 that “South Carolina does not recognize a landlord’s duty to keep common areas ‘secure’ from third-party criminal activity.” *Wright*, 413 S.C. 276, 286, 775 S.E.2d 399, 405, *rev’d on other grounds*, 426 S.C. 202, 826 S.E.2d 285 (2019); *See also Cramer v. Balcor Prop. Mgmt., Inc.*, 848 F. Supp. 1222, 1225 (D.S.C. 1994) (“*Cramer II*”) (“to . . . apply the common areas exception to this situation would stretch the exception to the point of swallowing the rule”). The Trial Court correctly observed the limitations of the common areas exception, and Mole has not cited any authority suggesting that the law has changed.

Even if the common areas exception did apply to criminal activity, Mole did not assert evidence to support its application to the facts of this case. First, Mole describes the “defect” as the door and window to the Decedent’s apartment, which Mole argues Kramer negligently repaired. (Br. of Appellant, p. 10.) A “common area” is an area that all tenants may use though the landlord retains control over it. *Black’s Law Dictionary* 332 (10th ed. 2014). Some examples of “common areas” are the parking lot, hallways, and playgrounds at an apartment or condominium complex. On the other hand, a door and window to a singular apartment that only the Decedent and his guests could use is not a common area. (R. \_\_\_\_, Tr. of Hr’g, p. 17.) Even if the exception applied to criminal activity, it would not apply to these facts.

**b. No evidence supports the application of the Affirmative Acts or Undertakings exceptions**

Two exceptions to the “no-duty” rule – the affirmative acts and the undertakings exceptions – have been recognized as applying to instances of criminal activity, but the Trial Court correctly ruled that the evidence did not support their application in this case. The affirmative acts exception is limited to situations where the landlord’s direct action increases a tenant’s risk of harm from

criminal activities. *Wright*, at 216, 826 S.E.2d at 292. On the other hand, the undertakings exception applies when landlord's failure to exercise due care in undertaking an action increases a tenant's risk of harm or if harm is suffered because of the tenant's reliance upon the landlord's undertaking. *Id.* (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 323). Both of these exceptions require some showing of negligence related to the harm suffered and the Trial Court properly held that Mole failed to produce any.

**i. The Affirmative Acts Exception does not apply.**

South Carolina law imposes a duty on a person to use reasonable care when any affirmative act is undertaken. *Cooke*, 741 F. Supp. at 1209-10. Put another way, anything done must be done reasonably. Thus, this exception applies to the "no-duty" rule of *Cramer* only when a landlord's actions directly and unreasonably lead to the tenant being harmed. *Id.* In *Cooke*, the District Court held that whether an improperly stored ladder was used by a criminal to enter the plaintiff's apartment constituted a factual issue under which the exception might apply. 741 F. Supp. at 1210. Our Supreme Court has given additional examples such as a landlord giving out a master key to someone who should not have one or a landlord leaving an apartment door or window unlocked. *Wright*, at 216, 826 S.E.2d at 292. In *Cramer II*, the District Court provided guidance on the limitations of the exception in holding that terminating a "courtesy officer" without hiring a new officer does fit the exception's parameters. 848 F. Supp. at 1224. In this case, Mole alleges the negligent repairs of the door and window of the Decedent's apartment failed to prevent the Assailant from entering the apartment. (Br. of Appellant, p. 11.) Multiple courts have rejected this fact pattern as going beyond the scope of the exception. *See Cooke* 741 F. Supp. at 1211; *Cramer II*, 848 F. Supp. at 1224. Thus, the affirmative acts exception does not apply to the facts of this case.

**ii. The Undertakings Exception does not apply.**

The undertakings exception is more attenuated and considers the circumstance where a landlord indirectly increases the tenant's risk of harm. *Wright*, at 216-217, 826 S.E.2d at 292. Our Supreme Court has recently instructed that Section 323 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts is the standard in South Carolina when analyzing voluntarily assumed duties. *Wright*, at 216, 826 S.E.2d at 292. The Trial Court, citing Section 323, properly held that this exception does not apply here because the facts mirror those of *Goode* and no evidence in the record suggested that any undertaken measures were performed with less than due care or that reliance upon them caused the fatal attack. (R. \_\_\_, Order Granting Summ. J., pp. 3-4.) Again, Mole argues that Kramer negligently repaired the door and window to the Decedent's apartment and that this led or contributed to the fatal attack. (Br. of Appellant, p. 11.) While *Cooke* recognized that this fact pattern *might* present a case in which the undertakings exception applies, Mole has merely alleged the fact pattern but not presented any evidence to support his allegations. 741 F. Supp. at 1211 (Noting that it is a "far cry from established principles of South Carolina law" to apply the exception to the mere allegation that locks were inadequate without any indication of a malfunction).

Section 323 establishes a duty of care when a landlord undertakes to do something and either (a) his or her failure to exercise due care in performing the undertaking increased the risk of harm to the tenants or (b) the tenant suffered harm because of her reliance upon the undertaking. *Wright*, at 219, 826 S.E.2d at 294. When the requirements are satisfied, only a duty of care is established. *Id.* In *Wright*, our Supreme Court held that a factual question of whether a duty arose under Section 323 because an apartment complex provided a security program to its tenants but failed to fully inform them of its scope or discontinuation. *Id.* The tenant testified that she chose

her residence, at least in part, because there were security officers on duty. The scope of the program was limited in both its size and application, but the complex did not explain the parameters of the program to its tenants. Instead, the tenants were merely informed that security was provided and a “very top priority” of the complex. Further, the complex did not notify its tenants when it no longer employed courtesy officers at the property. The Supreme Court noted that the analysis of whether a duty arose should be conducted from the standpoint of the tenant. *Id.* Based on her knowledge of the program, and her testimony of reliance upon the program, the court held that a question existed as to whether the requirements of Section 323 were satisfied. *Id.*, at 221, 826 S.E.2d at 295.

Conversely, Kramer did not undertake to provide security at the Apartments. Instead, Mole asserts the exception should apply because Kramer performed repairs to individual apartments as needed. (Br. of Appellant, pp. 10-12.) Section 323 can only be satisfied if any evidence shows that Kramer failed to exercise due care in performing any repairs and either a) Kramer’s failure increased the risk of harm to the Decedent or b) the Decedent was harmed because of his reliance upon Kramer’s repairs. The linchpin of Mole’s argument is the allegation that the Assailant actually exploited this “defect” in carrying out his attack upon the Decedent.<sup>2</sup> There is no indication in the record however, to establish the alleged defect or that the Assailant accessed the Decedent’s apartment because of it.

Mole cites Kramer’s discovery responses to support the assertion that Defendant “cheaply and negligently” performed repairs to the Decedent’s apartment. (R. \_\_\_\_, Mole’s Aff., p. 5 at ¶ 7.) The specific response cited, however, only states, in relevant part, that Kramer re-keys each

---

<sup>2</sup> Although Mole argues that Kramer was obligated in contract to evict the Assailant for prior criminal activity, Mole does not make any argument that an exception to *Cramer* would apply if the attack occurred outside of the Decedent’s apartment.

apartment in between tenants and has provided replacement door locks to its tenants as needed. (R. \_\_\_, Ex. L to Mole's Aff. at Interrog. No. 13.) Mole has not presented any evidence, in the form of complaints, subsequent repair requests, or even expert testimony, which would show that Kramer performed these repairs with less than due care. Mole instead presents police reports of prior break-ins and asserts that because the door or window to the apartment has been compromised before it must have been compromised by the Assailant in accessing the apartment. (R. \_\_\_, Ex. K to Mole's Aff.) Mole essentially asks this Court to apply the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitor* in determining that Kramer must have performed faulty repairs. See *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 452-53, 699 S.E.2d 169, 179 (2010) (A party may not rely solely on the fact that an accident occurred to prove liability under a negligence theory). This, standing alone, is insufficient to show that Kramer performed repairs with anything less than due care.

Second, and most importantly, Mole has not provided any evidence to show that the Assailant exploited this defect in carrying out the attack. In fact, the only evidence in the record refutes this assertion. This evidence comes from the Assailant's indictments for Murder and Burglary. (R. \_\_\_, Ex. M to Mole's Aff.)<sup>3</sup> A close examination shows that the indictments are based on the Assailant's own confession. (*Id.*) According to the indictments,

"[the Assailant] acknowledged that he confronted [the Decedent] in the parking area, presented the . . . handgun, pointed it at [the Decedent] through a partially opened door, then fought with [the Decedent] over control of the door firing a shot, and then "pistol whipping" [the Decedent] in the head area.

(*Id.*) Notably, Mole even concedes that the attack began in the parking lot. (Br. of Appellant, p. 15 ("Although his assailant approached him in the parking lot area, he was able force his way into

---

<sup>3</sup> Kramer recognizes that indictments are not considered evidence. See *infra* at Section IV(b) (arguing that the Trial Court properly excluded Mole's affidavit as inadmissible). In this case, however, the indictments are the only documents in the record that speak to how the fatal attack unfolded and to the extent Mole relies upon them in opposing summary judgment it must be recognized that they undermine his position.

the apartment door before he brutally attacked [the Decedent]”).) There is simply no evidence to show that the Assailant accessed the apartment by breaking the window next to an already shut and locked door. Without any evidence showing this, whether or not Kramer performed sufficient repairs to the window and door becomes irrelevant because it has no impact on the analysis of whether Kramer owed a legal duty to protect the Decedent from criminal activity in general or to evict the assailant. *See McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 4, 362 S.E.2d 26, 28 (Ct. App. 1987) (“Whatever doesn’t make any difference, doesn’t matter”).

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